Minutes Rochester Planning Commission
Tuesday, September 3, 2024
Rochester Town Office and via Zoom

Present: Chair Dan McKinley (via zoom), Sandy Haas, Julie Martin, Greg White, Dave
Curtis, Christine Meagher, Mary Fratini, Pat Harvey, Zoning Administrator

Guests: Jon Lemieux, Francis Parisi, Deb Moore, Rob Gardner, Lesley Strauss, Larry
Strauss, Ben Falk, Burma Cassidy, Bruce Jones, Sharon Solomon (zoom), Heidi Scott
(zoom), Tim McDonnell (zoom), Lori Church (zoom)

Call to Order: Dan called the meeting to order at 6:30pm, beginning as the Zoning
Board of Adjustment.

Public hearing (as Zoning Board of Adjustment) re: Jon Lemieux variance
application for property at 258 Little Hollow Road

Jon had previously submitted an application for the new construction of a 12’ x 14’
woodshed on the side of his 3-acre lot. The board determined that he needed a permit
for a variance of the setback rule, which required today’s warned hearing.

The proposed site for the woodshed meets the required 30’ setback from the road, but
would fall within the minimum setback of 25’ from the side. The two adjacent properties
are an approximately 2000 acres (owned by the Webster Company) and another
approximately 50+ acre parcel. The proposed shed would be 8 from the Webster
property on one corner and 13’ on the other. Jon said he chose the spot to
accommodate limitations elsewhere on the lot, including but not limited to: steep slope,
existing drainage, and plowing and delivery limitations.

The board reviewed the criteria for granting a variance, noting that a project must meet
all of these criteria: unique circumstances to the lot that produce unnecessary hardship;
that prohibit development of the property in strict conformance with the law; where the
hardship is not created by the applicant; the variance will not alter the essential
character of the neighborhood, impair neighbors, reduce access to energy sources, or
be detrimental to development; and represents the minimum variance and least
deviance from the town plan to provide adequate relief.

The board discussed the viability of other locations on this lot for the shed, the
conservation status of the adjacent and affected property, and whether the proposed
building represented the minimum amount of variance.

The board then tabled this hearing with the agreement to resume it at the end of the

informational session, adjourned as the Zoning Board of Adjustment, and reconvened
as the Planning Commission.

Page 1 of 11



Project information meeting with representative from Vertex Towers re: proposed
cell tower project at 1030 Route 100 South on property of Julia and Charles
Martin.

At the request of the Planning Commission, Francis Parisi, a representative from Vertex
Towers, LLC, presented a PowerPoint overview of the proposed cell tower project at
1030 Route 100 South. The proposal is for a single tower of approximately 180’ with
three antennas.

Julie Martin recused herself from the board for the informational session.

Dan and Sandy noted that this was not a hearing (as was incorrectly indicated in a
notice sent out on Friday), but only an informational meeting. Dan further noted that
Vertex has not yet filed an application for the tower. Sandy noted that, as a
telecommunications facility, this project is exempt from local zoning ordinances, so the
only decision to be made by the Planning Commission is how it might choose to
participate in the Section 248a process as a board.

The following is a summary of the Vertex presentation:

Francis noted that, because these types of facilities are regulated by the state, this was
a courtesy visit at the request of the Planning Commission. He emphasized that he was
only here to explain the project and process, not to apply for a permit or variance,
because jurisdictional authority lies with the state Public Utility Commission (PUC)]. He
noted that the commission would be the body to determine if this tower represented a
public good.

Francis described Vertex Towers as a wireless infrastructure developer and not a cell
phone company, which means it builds the infrastructure for wireless systems and
leases the capacity out to other companies. Vertex has built two such projects in
Vermont and approximately a dozen in New Hampshire. He described the projects in
New Hampshire as comparable to this project in terms of the challenges of working
within scenic areas, variable topography, and land use restrictions. He said Vertex had
a record of being successful in building facilities that work for telecommunications while
still adequately addressing the concerns of towns and citizens about hosting cell towers.
He noted that Verizon will serve as an anchor tenant, but that the tower itself belongs to
Vertex and will be built with the structure and capacity to accommodate multiple
companies.

Francis described some limitations on cell phone coverage in Vermont, specifically
those faced by Verizon in the 1-89 corridor. He noted that Verizon has good coverage
along 1-89 and to the east, with sites in Randolph and two other towns, but that
coverage did not extend to the west of the highway.

Francis said that, nationally, cell phones have a 100% penetration as a technology;
wireless is the primary form of connectivity in 50% of the United States; and more than

Page 2 of 11



80% of 911 calls nationwide are made by cell phones. He said this indicated the
necessity to improve cell coverage as a matter of public safety.

Francis noted that Vertex has done a lot of work in New Hampshire and that many of
their regional planning commissions are working with the company to improve
telecommunications services because they recognize that spotty coverage is a public
safety hazard. He noted the challenges in Vermont and elsewhere in New England of
finding appropriate locations for towers in terms of the technology where they can also
resolve issues with tower location to the satisfaction of the public.

Francis presented a slide depicting the location and range of Verizon'’s existing facilities
along the 1-89 corridor—in Randolph, Bethel, and Royalton—that provide a good range
of coverage, but noted the location of mountains that prohibit comparable coverage to
the west. Specifically, he noted a hard cut-off of coverage for Verizon as one comes
over Bethel Mountain Road.

Francis said that Vertex had chosen the proposed site at 1030 Route 100 South
because it minimized issues with visibility of the tower, wetlands, and other restrictions
that prohibit towers closer to town, while still providing coverage in downtown
Rochester. Given those restrictions and the challenging topography, he described this
proposed site as the only appropriate location.

Francis reiterated that the project is exempt from local zoning ordinances because
jurisdiction over telecommunications projects lies with the state, but said that Vertex
wishes to be respectful of those ordinances and tries to develop projects that would
comply with them. He said they believe they have done so with the proposal because it
is located in a residential/agricultural zone, on a lot of over 200 acres, with a substantial
setback of approximately 1000 ft off of Route 100 that would amply meet the
requirement of 125% of the tower height.

Francis described the lot as substantially undeveloped beyond the road frontage with a
house lot. He emphasized that it included an existing logging track that Vertex could
utilize in place of building a new, long, access driveway and, therefore, minimize tree
removal. He noted that the closest property line on Route 100 is about 350’ away, and
that other property lines are approximately 900°, 1000’, and 2000’ away, so the project
would be amply set back in conformance with zoning bylaws.

Francis described the constructed facility as a 50’ x 50’ fenced-in compound with
minimal clearing around it to facilitate construction, which would extend the constructed
area to around 60’ x 60’. It would be an unmanned facility, bounded by a chain-link
fence. He anticipates approximately two months of construction. He said the facility
would produce no noise or odors. He said Vertex would not plan to plow the access
road in the winter; if access were required, they would use winter terrain vehicles. He
said the facility should not increase traffic along Route 100.

Page 3 of 11



Francis described the facility as a “lattice-style tower”, which Vertex has found to be the
least invasive and easiest to build in this terrain. He described it as like a giant erector
set—10-20’ increments that are stacked by crane, antennas placed on top, and a
vertical pole that will allow (from a telecommunications perspective) other providers to
attach to the tower over time. The tower itself would be 175’ tall with a 1’ foundation, for
a total of 176’ + a small lightning rod and extensive grounding system.

Francis described the facility as low-powered, two-way transmission not designed to
cover a large area. He said it would use a transmission of approximately 100W in
comparison to an AM radio station, which he said uses 50,000W. He said the facility
would comply with all applicable FCC regulations, including those for setbacks and
radio frequency exposures. He said the facility was designed to cover 1-2 miles north
and south of town along Route 100.

Francis noted that Vertex did a balloon test last November during “leaf-off” conditions to
simulate visibility from approximately 14 locations at Route 100 looking north and south,
as well as from State Garage Road. He displayed a map of those locations as well as
the photographs from them. He said that the balloon was visible from 4 of those
locations—from the southwest corner of the green looking past Park House; from the
school parking lot; from State Garage Road; and from Route 100 South, roughly at
Liberty Hill Farm. Visibility at these locations ranged from a few feet at the green to
approximately 10-20’ from the location near Liberty Hill Farm.

Francis concluded his presentation by noting that projects like these are heavily
supported by the federal government because it recognizes the benefits of
telecommunications to the public good. He referenced the adoption of the
Telecommunications Act approximately 25 years ago, saying that it limits a town’s ability
to reject telecommunications facilities without sufficient reasons; he noted that such
reasons might include proximity to a school property, historic resource, or area with
Native American activity. He said the Act allowed towns to say they would prefer a
project be located somewhere else, but cannot simply say they do not want the project
in town. He said that Vertex’s goal is to work with towns, but also said that arguing the
project is unnecessary because there is sufficient AT&T coverage is not applicable
because the goal of the Telecommunications Act was to foster competition. He said for
that reason, Vertex tries to build facilities that can accommodate multiple providers, are
available to all companies, and are thoughtfully located with regard to height, location,
and structural integrity.

Francis said he welcomed questions and reiterated that Vertex’s goal is to move
forward with the Public Utility Commission (PUC) to seek a Certificate of Public Good
[CPG].

The following is a summary of the Q&A session:

Answering questions raised during his presentation, Francis said that the tower would
be built at an elevation of 1585’. He said he did not have the specific average tree

Page 4 of 11



height at the site, thought an estimate of 75’ seemed reasonable, and said that was not
a useful metric for determining visibility because it didn’t account for distance,
topography, perspective, or the technological need to be above the tree line.

Greg White asked if Verizon considered co-locating on the existing tower in town.
Francis said he believed it doesn’t have the height to allow for it. He said that Vertex
moves forward with an anchor tenant, but doesn’t design only for that tenant’s needs.

Mary Fratini asked when Vertex anticipated submitting an application to the PUC.
Francis said he didn’t know the exact date, but probably sometime in September.

Greg asked if the wires would be overhead or buried. Francis said that, given the
likelihood of ledge, Vertex could just do overhead poles along the logging driveway,
which he said goes 95% of the way to the site.

Greg asked if the site would require 3-phase or single-phase power, and if Vertex would
have three primary wires up. Francis said they usually use 3-phase, but that the
decision would depend on what the utility company wants, whether they want a primary
line all the way to the site or tap off of Route 100. He said that either way it should still
be a single wire, maybe with a transformer. He said that, generally, the power company
likes them to bring the primary wire in and drop a transformer at the top.

Dave Curtis asked if the generators were only for back-up. Francis said yes, that there
are three sources of power: the primary source is overhead lines, then back-up batteries
that can last 12-24 hours, then a back-up generator on-site in the event of a long-term
outage.

Christine Meagher noted that the anticipated additional coverage applied to the most
populated area of Rochester, so she wasn’t sure the argument about public safety was
the most important way to talk about the project.

Deb Moore made several comments to the board and asked several questions of
Vertex. She said she had just heard about this project on Friday, that some of her
guestions may not be appropriate for today, and that she would hold those as long as
there will be another hearing for everyone, at which they will have enough time to
express themselves at that hearing, and that it will be well advertised.

Deb noted that the advance notice for application for a certificate of public good was
dated June 12, 2024 and asked who got this notification, other than the Town of
Rochester. She asked why nobody else knew or was informed about this. She reminded
the Planning Commission and the Selectboard that there is a Right to Know petition
[about such projects] and asked that, if advance notice went to the town, why didn’t the
town say something at that point?

Deb asked that, if this project were to go forward in September, at what point would the
town be notifying residents? She said that, so far, to her knowledge, there had not been

Page 5 of 11



a public process for this. She said there were a lot of things in the town plan that should
come up.

Deb asked if there will there be another balloon test, and if so when, and would
residents be notified. Francis said that there was no requirement for Vertex to do
another balloon test, but if the town asked for it, they would be amenable to it. He noted
that the state law says Vertex just had to notify the town and direct abutters. He said he
wasn’t sure who else he would notify other than the town.

Pat Harvey noted that the agenda for the July 2: 2024 meeting of the Planning
Commission did have Vertex on it and that was warned and posted in three places
around town.

Sandy Haas said that the board was aware of what was passed at Town Meeting
[regarding the Right to Know], but noted that there is nothing in there that specifies the
process. She said that if [anyone] wants to do more and [has] a suggestion that doesn’t
require mailing everyone, and therefore paying for the mailing, please put that in writing
to Selectboard.

Rob Gardner asked Francis to describe the financial landscape of deal — over 10 years,
how much will Vertex make? Verizon? The landowner? The town? Francis said that all
that information is private.

Rob said that, since this project needs no permission from anyone, why should the
public in any way have confidence in the information Francis was providing in regards to
safety or anything else. Francis said that he didn’t mean to imply that the public doesn’t
have any input, but that what Vertex needs is the Certificate of Public Good from the
PUC. Francis noted that there is an extensive application process including public
hearings and that the PUC will make the ultimate decision about whether this does or
does not serve the public good.

Dan McKinley noted that the PUC has to look at the town plan and zoning and consider
it, so this is not completely out of our hands. He said that we do have things in the town
plan that talk about places we prefer/prefer not to have cell towers, so there is some
information they [Vertex] can glean and we can give them. He noted that we have
nothing in our zoning other than setbacks that would apply. He reiterated that this is not
completely out of our hands and said that we will have public comments and then share
those with the PUC.

Rob asked what the next step would be in an informational sense in communicating with
town. Francis said that Vertex would file an application with the PUC, which will be sent
to the town. He said there will be a public hearing process, during which the town and
public have opportunity to comment.

Page 6 of 11



Rob asked Francis whether Vertex felt a responsibility to make this information available
outside of the Town of Rochester. Francis said that it is the town’s responsibility to get
information to its citizens.

Heidi Scott (zoom) noted that she had recently purchased property just north of the
suggested location for cell phone tower and thought they would be able to see it along
Nason Brook. She said that she had not received notification about the proposed tower.

Sandy noted that the purchase may have been recent enough that Vertex’s notifications
went to the previous landowner; she suggested that Francis update his abutters list.

Heidi asked if there would be a hum or noise from the generator heard on adjacent
properties, noting that the tower would be closer to her property than it is to downtown.
Francis said that there should be no noise generated. He noted that the equipment on
site is a small utility cabinet and the sound should be like a refrigerator, not a big HVAC
system. He said the generator doesn’t run continuously, maybe cycles through once a
week to ensure its operation, and that they can schedule that anytime. He said the only
noise from the generator would be during a longer-than-24-hour power failure. He said
the generator is also in a small baffling cabinet, transmission makes no audible sound,
and there is nothing to make noise other than a small cooling fan like in a computer.

Heidi asked how tall the tower will be above the trees. Francis offered to get a
measurement of the average tree canopy, but reiterated that, in his view, that
information is irrelevant because it presupposes a flat world and a clearing. He also said
that Vertex would not be clearing three acres but only a 60'x 60’ space, so 3600 sq ft or
under 1/10 of an acre.

Tim McDonnell (zoom) asked if the tower would support any broadband equipment or
provide internet in addition to cell services. Francis noted that the tower is designed for
commercial telecommunications companies, which provide broadband services. He said
that Vertex tends to build for telecommunications companies, who often have an
internet component.

Lori Church (zoom) said that people at the same elevation as the tower care about the
height, such as people who are at 2000’ looking down at the structure. She said tree
height does matter because the Rochester community is much larger than the Route
100 corridor. She said her family moved to this community in January and had
previously contacted the town in December about this topic. She said they moved here
from 350 miles away to be in quiet location, in a safe location, and that they are very
concerned about this. She said she will happily pay for a mailing to all residents to
ensure the entire community is notified.

Lori asked what the actual coverage would be, to the east and west as well as the north
and south. She asked what color the tower would be, noting that Manchester had
recently put up a tower that was bright red. Francis said that coverage would be about
1-2 miles each way, north and south. He said the tower is not designed to get above the

Page 7 of 11



east/west ridges; it is not designed for 360-degree coverage. He said the tower itself is
what’s called a lattice-style tower with antennas at the top. He said it will not be red-and-
white striped because Vertex usually builds towers under FAA limitations. He said that
only if you are close to airport or flight path do you need to light and mark it [like that].
Francis said the tower itself is galvanized steel—like a guard rail, a non-reflective
material. He said Vertex has tried a bunch of things in the past—Ilike painting it blue to
match the sky—Dbut in his experience, anytime you do something different [to the tower]
you call more attention to it.

Larry Strauss noted that he lives east of the proposed tower and thanked Francis for
being open to the idea of doing a balloon test a second time. He asked if Vertex
employs any other camouflaging techniques on the tower, like fake pine branches. He
also noted that the balloon test didn’t take any pictures on Bethel Mountain Road, only
along the Route 100 corridor. Francis reiterated that, in his experience, the more you try
to hide a tower, the more visible it becomes. He said the public utility commission would
determine things like camouflage. He said they were not required to do another balloon
test, but would be willing to do another one if the town wants it.

Ben Falk said that he thought the Vander Waag property [that Heidi purchased] would
look directly at the tower, as would anyone on Bethel Mountain Road or others at similar
elevations. He said that the only way a tower like this can be shown to be in the public
good is when we have full bars. He said that, when we are told there is no cell
coverage, we can see that this is a rigged process of the corporate-ocracy. Ben said he
had specific points in regards to the public harms he believes this project will cause that
are substantial and obvious, including:

e This is a large construction project at the top of watershed at a place that already
floods. We have sensitive, high-elevation areas we don’t want to mess with. An
acre of impervious surface at a steep slope is way more impactful than an acre at
the bottom, like at the school.

e Distracted driving is an epidemic. When we have no coverage, we have no one
looking at their phones.

e Tourists. Woodstock and Pomfret have had to restrict areas due to too many
visitors who have found their way through geotagging on social media. If you
don’t have good reception, then geotagging goes way down. People who live
here have AT&T; people from elsewhere have Verizon.

Ben said he didn’t have any questions for Vertex, he was addressing the board, his
neighbors, people who matter. He said that finding this as a public good would require
mental acrobatics and misconstrued facts. He said that there would be other damages,
including viewshed damage to the unbroken ridgeline at North Hollow. He said that if
someone wants to see towers poking up, they should go to Claremont, NH. He said
there will impacts on wildlife.

Francis said that the project should increase the impervious surface by minimal
amounts.

Page 8 of 11



Dan asked if the board should work with Vertex to schedule a new balloon test. Francis
said he recommended waiting until the PUC] was involved to start that process.

Burma Cassidy asked Francis for examples from the last 2-5 years of where Vertex
already put towers in Vermont or New Hampshire. She asked Francis why Vertex was
looking for a location in Rochester, where Vertex was located, and how long of a lease
do they offer. Francis said Vertex has put up towers in Rockingham and in Bennington
County already. He said they have a dozen other sites under development. He said
Vertex moves forward when Verizon expresses an interest, and then offers it [space] to
other companies. Francis said Vertex has been in business for about 20 years, has built
about 20 towers in New Hampshire, and is based in Massachusetts. He said that finding
sites that meet telecommunications requirements is a challenge, but that Vertex
believes this is an appropriate location with a willing landowner to lease the property to
us. He said Vertex generally offers a long-term lease.

Bruce Jones asked if, rather than a ballon, it would be better to do a drone with a 360-
degree camera at that elevation. Dave Curtis asked what is the typical duration for the
balloon test. Christine Meagher asked if the company would be willing to do an
additional balloon test when people are not likely to be working. Francis said Vertex
could advertise the date so people know to go and look for it. He said that Vertex has
the test last as long as they can, given weather conditions. He said they usually do it in
the morning because it is less windy, that it usually last about three hours, and that
Vertex could do it on a weekend, weather permitting.

Lesley Strauss asked if this tower communicates with other towers or if there will still be
gaps in coverage. Francis said that coverage will go up Route 73 a bit, but it won’t go
over the ridge.

Pat Harvey asked:
e |Is this property already in current use and if so, would it have to come out of
that?
e Will you use local contractors?
e The town has to consider climate change in all our decisions, so even though this
isn’t a town decision, is there any possibility of an alternative power source to the
tower, other than electricity?

Francis said he don’t know if the property is in current use, but that probably only the 50’
x 50’ portion would have to come out of it and that Vertex would be responsible for that.
He said Vertex will hire a general contractor to do the technical work of stacking the
tower, and they then generally look for local folks for any of the other work. He said that,
although there are places in his industry developing cell sites with only solar power, he
didn’t think that solar here is reliable enough to provide 24-hour/uninterrupted power.

Pat noted that the EV charging stations here in town at the Park & Ride use the Verizon

app, and sometimes people have not been able to make use of them, so that [the
additional coverage] would be a benefit there.

Page 9 of 11



Pat asked where the public hearing would take place. Francis said that he believes the
PUC tries to hold it as locally as possible, but there will also be a zoom component.

Sharon Solomon (zoom) commented that she sees this tower as unnecessary because
we have fiber optic, wi-fi, cell coverage. She said that it seemed like Verizon identified a
need not the public; she said that the public already has what it needs in the services
that we have. She said that cell phone towers are ugly, it will forever mar the scenery of
Route 100, and that this is the only area that is gorgeous. She said she moved here
because she previously lived near a cell tower and has horrible health effects from that
from which she may not ever recover. She said she understands that the FCC does not
allow anything about health to come into discussions about cell towers. She said she
spoke to a woman in Hancock who said a cell tower there has disrupted pollinators,
animals. Sharon noted that we are animals too, so this affects us. She reiterated that
she has significant health issues that she never had before, which is why her family left
where they were and moved here. She asked the town to please not allow this to go
through. She said we already have enough coverage here, please do not make her
have to move again.

Deb noted that the advance notice on June 12, 2024 said the construction would create
55,000 sq ft of new impervious surface and three-acres of tree clearing. Francis said he
thought that was because the State of Vermont considers the access driveway to be
new impervious surface even though it is not asphalt. He said he will look into the
clearing numbers, but reiterated that this site was chosen in part because of the existing
logging road.

Dan asked about the 45-day notice. Francis said that once the application is filed, the
town will get a notice and there is a 3-week comment period.

Dan said the board will follow up with Vertex on another balloon test and also set up
another opportunity for community comments. He thanked Francis for this presentation.

The informational session concluded and Julie Martin returned to her position on the
board.

Approval of Minutes: Minutes from the August meeting were approved.

Administrative Officer Report: Building and Zoning Applications

-- Andrew Fersch, 26 Brook Street

Andrew applied for a building permit to put in a greenhouse shed. Dave asked about its
location in regard to the flood corridor; Pat said she would check and confirm it was in
compliance. The permit was approved.

-- Marvin Harvey, 70 South Main Street

Page 10 of 11



This is a corrected permit from 2022, #22-22. Marvin is adding solar panels to the
backyard that will meet the setback requirements; we can’t approve those, but can
approve setbacks. The permit was amended with reference to the Public Utility
Commission because he will be engaged in net-metering.

Discuss rescheduling November meeting to avoid election-day conflict
The board agreed to move the November meeting to Wednesday, November 6, 2024 at
6:30pm.

The board adjourned as the Planning Commission and reconvened as the Zoning Board
of Adjustment at 8:34pm to continue discussion of the Jon Lemieux variance application
The board discussed the criteria for issuing a variance, confirming that we can issue a
variance with conditions.

Dan made a motion to approve a variance for Jon Lemieux from the setback rule at his
property at 258 Little Hollow Road because the circumstances of the lot—steepness of
slope, wetness, drainage—make it difficult for the landowner to position the woodshed
anywhere else on the lot without creating undue hardship; the variance is given on the
conditions that the structure be used only as a woodshed and this variance does not
create a new, non-conforming setback.

The motion was seconded. Dan, Sandy, Greg, Mary, Julie, and Dave voted in favor.
None were opposed. Christine abstained.

The variance was approved.

The board adjourned as the Zoning Board of Adjustment and reconvened as the
Planning Commission at 9:00pm.

The board discussed the informational presentation by Francis Parisi, noting the
limitations on the balloon test—time, absence of photographs from the west and Bethel
Mountain Road, how well a 4-ft balloon represents a cell tower. Dan will keep in contact
with Francis/Vertex to better understand the timeline for the process overall, once they
submit an application to the PUC.

Adjourned: Meeting was adjourned at 9:15pm

Next meeting: October 1, 2024 at 6:30pm.

Page 11 of 11



